FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 11/9/2017 8:33 AM

Supreme Court No. _____ Court of Appeals No. 49123-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, DIVISION TWO

THE ESTATE OF JAMES CRAMPTON ROGERS, by and through PAUL CULLEN, Personal Representative of the Estate, et.al, Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, and RUSSELL SANDERS, in his capacity as a Washington state trooper, and as an individual, Defendants-Appellants.

APPEAL FROM THE JEFFERSON COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT

The Honorable Keith C. Harper, Trial Judge

PLAINTIFF-APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is RCW 46.61.140(1) violated by a motorist who merely drives "onto the centerline" of a highway?

Mr. Rogers passed away on March 13, 2012, after this lawsuit was filed. We have his sworn testimony about the incident given at his formal Department of Licensing administrative hearing, wherein he prevailed.

A copy of the slip opinion is reproduced in the Appendix, Appendix pages A-1 to A-11.

- 2. Is RCW 46.61.100(1) violated by a motorist who merely drives "onto the centerline" of a highway but does not drive on the left half of the highway?
- 3. Does the Court of Appeals decision on the legality of the traffic stop conflict with *State v. Prado*, 145 Wash. App. 646, 186 P.3d 1186 (2008) and *State v. Jones*, 186 Wash. App. 786, 347 P. 3d 483 (2015)?
- 4. Does evidence which conflicts with the trooper's claim of probable cause to arrest create a genuine issue of material fact on summary judgment?
- 5. Is prior sworn testimony, given at a DOL hearing where probable cause to arrest is an issue, admissible on summary judgment where probable cause is also at issue?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Rogers' Estate seeks compensation for violations of Jim Rogers' Fourth Amendment rights under Title 42, United States Code, §1983 and state tort law. CP 1-11. The State defendants' summary judgment motion was granted. CP 167-168, 232-235. The Estate's motion for reconsideration, CP 169-175, was denied. CP 231, 232-235. This appeal followed. CP 227-230, 236-241.

E. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> <u>ACCEPTED</u>

1. <u>Issues One and Three</u>: RCW 46.61.140(1) is not violated by a motorist who merely drives "onto the centerline" of a highway. The panel's decision conflicts with *Prado* and *Jones*.

An officer who stops a motorist without having observed a traffic violation violates the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable seizures. *Bingham v. City of Manhattan Beach*, 341 F.3d 939, 946 (9th Cir. 2003).

In its motion, the state claimed that the trooper could stop Mr. Rogers "for "failing to maintain lane travel", citing RCW 46.61.100 and RCW 46.61.140(1). CP 62. On this record, the trier of fact could conclude that the trooper did not observe a traffic violation.

The trooper claimed that Mr. Rogers drove "onto the centerline" twice and drifted to the right. He does not claim that Mr. Rogers crossed the centerline. He does not claim that Mr. Rogers' tires ever touched the left side of the roadway.

On its face, this does not violate the statute. RCW 46.61.140(1) provides:

Whenever any roadway has been divided into two or more clearly marked lanes for traffic the following rules in addition to all others consistent herewith shall apply:

(1) A vehicle shall be driven as nearly as practicable entirely within a single lane and shall not be moved from such lane until the driver has first ascertained that such movement can be made with safety.

RCW 46.61.140(1).

The language requiring a driver to remain exclusively in a single lane "as nearly as practicable" indicates "an express legislative intent to avoid penalizing brief, momentary, and minor deviations of lane lines." *State v. Prado*, 145 Wash. App. 646; 186 P.3d 1186 (2008). In *Prado*, the driver went beyond driving onto the center line—he crossed the center line by approximately two tire widths. 145 Wash. App. at 647. The Court held that the stop was unlawful:

We believe the legislature's use of the language "as nearly as practicable" demonstrates a recognition that brief incursions over the lane lines will happen. . . . A vehicle crossing over the line for one second by two tire widths on

an exit lane does not justify a belief that the vehicle was operated unlawfully. This stop was unlawful, and thus we need not undertake a review of whether the search was reasonable. This is particularly so as the officer testified that there was no other traffic present and no danger posed to other vehicles.

State v. Prado, 145 Wash.App. at 649.

In *State v. Jones*, 186 Wash. App. 786, 347 P.3d 483 (2015) the driver passed over the fog line three times, each time correcting his position with a slow drift. There were no other vehicles on the road. The Court held that *Prado* applied to the multiple line crossings, and that the traffic stop was not lawful under RCW 46.61.140(1):

But our *Prado* decision did not depend on the fact that the driver crossed the lane line only once. Rather, we used a totality of the circumstances analysis that included factors such as other traffic present and the danger posed to other vehicles. This represents a more sophisticated analysis than a simple tally of the number of times a tire crossed a line. The out-of-state cases we found persuasive included factual scenarios involving more than one incursion, which courts still found insufficient to justify a stop under statutes similar to Washington's. We likewise held that

"brief incursions"—not necessarily a single incursion—"will happen" and do not violate the lane travel statute.

... Because the stop of Jones's vehicle was not lawful under RCW 46.61.140(1) and *Prado*, the trial court erred by not suppressing the evidence of the firearm [seized after the stop took place]. We reverse and remand.

State v. Jones, 186 Wash.App. at 791-791, 794 (footnotes omitted).

Here, the trier of fact could conclude that there was no violation of RCW 46.61.140(1). Mr. Rogers did not cross the center line. The stop was unlawful under the Fourth Amendment.

The appellate panel's description of the driving ("problems maintaining a direct line of travel, driving on the centerline twice, and drifting and jerking from right to left", *Opinion*, page 9) does not show a violation of the statute. Some of the terms used are nebulous. The decision here expands the scope of motorist liability beyond that authorized by the Legislature. It conflicts with *Prado* and *Jones*. Review of this issue should be granted. RAP 13.4(b)(2) and (b)(4).

2. <u>Issue Two</u>: RCW 46.61.100(1) is not violated by a motorist who merely drives "onto the centerline" of a highway, but does not drive on the left half of the highway.

The other statute suggested by the State to justify the stop is RCW 46.61.100(1). That statute plainly does not apply here. It provides in pertinent part: "Upon all roadways of sufficient width a vehicle shall be driven *upon the right half of the roadway*, except as follows: (listing exceptions). ." (Italics added). The statute does not refer to "the center line" in the prohibitory language.

The Court is to give effect to the plain meaning of the language used. The Court reads the statute as a whole to give effect to all language used. Here, there appears to be no claim by the trooper that Mr. Rogers drove on the *left half* of the highway.

The exceptions listed in RCW 46.61.100(1) show that the legislature was concerned about regulating driving on the left half of the highway. See, e.g., subsection (1)(a)(exception for passing on the left); subsection (1)(b) (exception where "an obstruction exists making it necessary to drive to the left of the center of the highway").

The plain language of the statute does not prohibit driving "onto the center line", etc. Mr. Rogers did not drive on the *left half* of the highway. Here, the trier of fact could conclude that the trooper did not observe a violation of RCW 46.61.100(1). The stop was unlawful under the Fourth Amendment.

The appellate panel's description of the driving does not show a violation of the statute. The decision here expands the scope of motorist liability under RCW 46.61.100(1) beyond that authorized by the Legislature. Review of this issue should be granted. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

3. <u>Issue Four</u>: The Estate's evidence conflicts with the trooper's claim of probable cause to arrest. Viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Rogers, it creates a genuine issue of material fact on summary judgment.

Mr. Rogers was arrested without probable cause. An arrest without probable cause violates the Fourth Amendment and is actionable under §1983. See Washington v. Lambert, 98 F.3d 1181 (9th Cir. 1996); Beier v. City of Lewiston, 354 F.3d 1058 (9th Cir. 2004). "[A] mistake about the law cannot justify a stop, let alone an arrest, under the Fourth Amendment." Beier, 354 F.3d at 1065.

There are genuine issues of material fact regarding

probable cause for Mr. Rogers' arrest. A reasonable jury could infer the following:

- (1) The trooper's claim that he smelled alcohol is not accurate. There was no alcohol in Mr. Rogers' truck. Mr. Rogers had two low breath test readings, consistent with his testimony that he only shared part of a quart of beer in Seattle some time earlier in the evening, which would not create an odor in the truck later in Jefferson County.
- (2) The trooper's claim that he smelled marijuana is not accurate. There was no marijuana in the cab of Mr. Rogers' truck. Mr. Rogers smoked tobacco and showed his hand-rolled cigarette to the trooper. After the arrest, only a very small amount of green vegetable matter, apparently never tested, was found in a gym bag in the back under the canopy, which the trooper would not have been able to smell at the driver's side door.
- (3) Mr. Rogers' statement that he passed the field tests deserves credence because (a) he was not intoxicated per the breath tests, and (b) because the trooper made inaccurate assertions about the incident. The trooper cited Mr. Rogers for carrying an open container of alcohol even though, according to the discovery produced by the State, there was no alcohol in the truck.

In short, a reasonable jury could find that Mr.

Rogers was arrested without probable cause. The jury is entitled to disregard the trooper's claims.

In the recent case of *Cruz v. Anaheim*, police claimed that they saw Mr. Cruz reach for his waistband, so they opened fire and killed him. Reversing summary judgment, the Ninth Circuit noted:

In this case, there's circumstantial evidence that could give a reasonable jury pause. Most obvious is the fact that Cruz didn't have a gun on him, so why would he have reached for his waistband?. . . [T]he jury could also reasonably conclude that the officers lied.

Cruz v. Anaheim, 765 F.3d 1076, 1079-1080 (9th Cir. 2014).

Here, the panel seems to have taken the trooper's claims as a given. Factual disputes seemingly were resolved in favor of the State.

The facts and reasonable inferences therefrom should have been viewed in the light most favorable to Mr. Rogers' Estate. The State did not meet its burden of proving that there is no issue of material fact. *See Kim v. Lakeside Adult Family Home*, 185 Wash.2d. 532, 547, 374 P. 3d 121 (2016). Summary judgment on Mr. Rogers' arrest without probable cause claim under §1983 should be reversed.³

³ Under the Estate's facts, the traffic stop and the arrest

Review of this issue should be granted under RAP 13.4(b) (4).

5. <u>Issue Five</u>: Prior sworn testimony, given at a formal DOL hearing where probable cause to arrest is an issue, is admissible on summary judgment where probable cause is also at issue.

At Mr. Rogers' DOL license suspension hearing, one of the statutory issues was whether the trooper had probable cause to arrest for driving under the influence. RCW

of Mr. Rogers were invalid. If so, then the State is liable in trespass and negligence for the resulting seizure of Mr. Rogers. The trooper had a duty not to stop Mr. Rogers without observing a traffic violation. The trooper had a duty to Mr. Rogers not to arrest him without probable cause. Under plaintiff's facts, the trooper breached those duties. The State is liable under the doctrine of respondeat superior. See RCW 4.92.090; see LaPlant v. Snohomish County, 162 Wash.App. 476, 479, 271 P.3d 254 (Division One, 2011)(deputy negligence, respondeat superior); see also Brutsche v. City of Kent, 164 Wash.2d 664, 673-676, 1933 P.3d 110 (2008) (an unreasonable seizure by police is actionable in trespass).

The state is also liable for conversion for the impound of Mr. Rogers' truck. See, e.g., Potter v. Washington State Patrol, 165 Wash.2d 67, 196 P.3d 691 (2008)(State liability for conversion for unlawful impound). Summary judgment on these claims should likewise be reversed.

46.20.308(7). At the hearing, Mr. Rogers, through retained counsel Paul Cullen, filed a motion to dismiss challenging the unlawful stop and a challenge to probable cause to take blood. DOL Hearing Transcript, pp 4-5.

Mr. Rogers testified at the hearing that he shared a quart of microbrew with a friend before taking the ferry from Seattle. He had nothing else to drink. He testified that he felt he passed the sobriety test given by the trooper. He testified he was driving safely. In effect, he testified that he was not under the influence. See DOL hearing transcript, pp.13-16. This important testimony would have created genuine issues of material fact as to the legality of the traffic stop and probable cause to arrest, had the DOL Hearing Transcript been admitted for purposes of the summary judgment proceeding.

The appellate panel denied admission, claiming that Mr. Rogers did not challenge the stop or the arrest at the DOL hearing. That is incorrect. The record demonstrates just the opposite. The same issues were present at both the DOL hearing and in the summary judgment proceeding. There was a similar motive to develop the testimony through examination of Mr. Rogers. ER 804(b)(1). Mr. Rogers' prior sworn testimony should have been admitted as evidence in the summary judgment proceeding.

This case gives the Court the opportunity to hold that prior sworn testimony in DOL license suspension hearings is admissible under ER 804(b)(1). This is an important and recurring issue in many cases, civil and criminal. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

F. CONCLUSION

Review by this Court should be granted. Important issues are presented. The appellate panel was incorrect in its decision. This case should be reversed and remanded to the Superior Court for further proceedings.