FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
1/10/2018, 2:08 PM
BY SUSAN LI CARLSON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 95210-8

#### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE ESTATE OF JAMES CRAMPTON ROGERS, by and through PAUL CULLEN, Personal Representative of the Estate,

Petitioners-Appellants,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON, and RUSSELL SANDERS, in his capacity as a Washington State Trooper, and as an individual,

Respondents.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

Patricia D. Todd, WSBA #38074 Allyson S. Zipp, WSBA #38076 Assistant Attorneys General P.O. Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504-0126 (360) 586-6300 OID #91023

ORIGINAL

filed via

#

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

#### IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Review Should Be Denied Because, Consistent with ER 804(b)(1), the DOL Transcript Was Excluded as Inadmissible Hearsay as It Does Not Constitute "Former Testimony"

In its unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals held that the DOL transcript does not satisfy the "former testimony" exception to the bar against hearsay. The "former testimony" exception makes admissible:

Testimony given as a witness at ... a different proceeding ... if the party against whom the testimony is now offered, or, in a civil action or proceeding, a predecessor in interest, had an opportunity and similar motive to develop the testimony by direct, cross, or redirect examination.

ER 804(b)(1) (emphasis added). The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the exception was not satisfied because at the DOL hearing "Rogers

was not subject to cross-examination by a party with similar motives to develop his testimony." Slip op. at 7. In fact, no cross-examination occurred and neither the WSP nor Trooper Sanders were a party to or present at Mr. Rogers's administrative challenge to his driver's license suspension.

The Estate contends the Court of Appeals erred, arguing that "whether the trooper had probable cause to arrest" was a statutory issue at the DOL hearing, and that Mr. Rogers had filed a motion challenging the investigatory stop. Pet. at 11-12. But these facts do not refute the basis of the Court of Appeals' holding: the lack of cross-examination by a party with similar motives. Thus, contrary to the Estate's urging, this case does not "give[] the Court the opportunity to hold that prior sworn testimony in DOL license suspension hearings is admissible under ER 804(b)(1)." Pet. at 13. Petition for Review should be denied.

First, the "former testimony" hearsay exception is not concerned with—nor satisfied by—the fact that probable cause to arrest is a statutory issue at a DOL license suspension hearing conducted under RCW 46.20.308.<sup>4</sup> The mere existence of probable cause as a statutory issue does not fulfill the "former testimony" exception's requirement for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Estate is correct that probable cause to arrest is a statutory issue at an implied consent hearing conducted pursuant to RCW 46.20.308. That statute specifies, as one of the preconditions for a driver's implied consent to a breath alcohol test, that the arresting officer have "reasonable grounds" for the arrest. RCW 46.04.455 defines "[r]easonable grounds" in this context to mean "probable cause."

Mr. Rogers to have been examined by a party with a "similar motive to develop [his] testimony." ER 804(b)(1).

Nor is the exception's requirement for "similar motive" satisfied by Mr. Rogers having "filed a motion to dismiss [at the hearing,] challenging the unlawful stop." Pet. at 12 (citing DOL Hearing Transcript at 4-5). Mr. Rogers's motive—to challenge the stop—was not similar to the motive of "the party against whom the testimony is now offered." ER 804(b)(1) (emphasis added). It is antithetical. The motive of Trooper Sanders and the WSP is to uphold the stop by showing that Trooper Sanders had "reasonable suspicion to stop, and probable cause to arrest, Rogers." Slip op. at 7.

Second, also unsatisfied is the "former testimony" exception's requirement that either "the party against whom the testimony is now offered" or that party's "predecessor in interest" have had the opportunity to develop the testimony at the earlier proceeding. ER 804(b)(1). At the DOL hearing, the only attendees were the Hearing Officer, Mr. Rogers, and his counsel. CP at 184. The parties against whom the Estate seeks to offer the testimony now—Trooper Sanders and WSP—were neither present at, nor party to, the hearing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the DOL transcript, the Hearing Officer makes reference to receiving from Mr. Rogers's counsel a "motion to dismiss for unlawful stop, and the memorandum of legal authorities for confusion, lack of probable cause to take blood." CP at 185. The Estate has not made these materials part of the record in this case. But even if the briefing were part of the record, the exception's requirement for "similar motive" would not be met.

Moreover, although DOL could have participated as a party in its prosecutorial capacity, DOL is not a predecessor in interest to Trooper Sanders or to the WSP. DOL and WSP are two separate, distinct government agencies. And DOL had no motive to develop Mr. Rogers's testimony regarding his stop and arrest by Trooper Sanders because the arresting officer's report is "admissible without further evidentiary foundation" and is "prima facie evidence that the officer had reasonable grounds to believe the person had been driving... under the influence." RCW 46.20.308(7).

Finally, the Court of Appeals determined that even if the DOL transcript were admissible, nothing in Mr. Rogers's self-serving testimony "created an issue of material fact that would allow this case to survive summary judgment." Slip op. at 7; see, e.g., CP at 200 ("I [Rogers] clean my truck once a year. . . . I don't believe [the trooper] could have smelled any beer."), CP at 201 ("I would have thought I passed that [field sobriety] test."). Moreover, in his testimony Mr. Rogers actually admits facts that support the validity of the stop. See, e.g., CP at 194-95 (explaining that earlier in the evening he had shared "a quart of some microbrew" with a fellow traveler), CP at 196-97 (explaining that just prior to Trooper Sanders

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Each agency is independently established by the Legislature. *Cf.* RCW 43.24 (DOL), RCW 43.43 (WSP). Each has its own set of Washington Administrative Code regulations. *Cf.* WAC 36, 98, 196, 308 (DOL), WAC 204, 212, 446 (WSP).

stopping him, he was "hand-rolling a cigarette," which "occup[ied] both of [his] hands," and therefore was "us[ing] his knee to steer.").

The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision correctly holds that the DOL transcript does not constitute "former testimony" under ER 804(b)(1). Discretionary review should be denied.

# B. Review Should Be Denied Because the Trooper Had a Reasonable Articulable Suspicion That Mr. Rogers Committed a Traffic Infraction

In its decision, the Court of Appeals held "the Estate's § 1983 challenge fails on the merits as a matter of law [because] the traffic stop was based on a reasonable articulable suspicion that Rogers had committed a traffic infraction." Slip op. at 9. The Estate contends discretionary review is warranted because the unpublished decision's "description of the driving . . . does not show a violation of the statute [RCW 46.61.100(1) or 140(1)]," it "expands the scope of motorist liability beyond that authorized by the Legislature," and it conflicts with *State v. Prado*, 145 Wn. App. 646, 186 P.3d 1186 (2008), and *State v. Jones*, 186 Wn. App. 786, 347 P.3d 483 (2015). Pet. at 6, 8. Because the Estate's contentions are either inapposite or incorrect, discretionary review should be denied.

First, whether the decision's description of Mr. Rogers's driving shows a violation of the statute is inapposite to the actual issue before the Court: the lawfulness of the investigative stop. Showing a violation of

RCW 46.61.140(1), which requires drivers to maintain lane travel, or RCW 46.61.100(1), which requires drivers to keep right except when passing, is not dispositive of whether Mr. Rogers was lawfully stopped on suspicion that he was driving under the influence. CP at 38. "An officer may make a warrantless investigative stop based on a reasonable, articulable suspicion of unlawful conduct by a driver. When reviewing the validity of an investigative stop, courts evaluate the totality of the circumstances." Jones, 186 Wn. App. at 790 (emphasis added).

Here, the unpublished decision's evaluation of the stop properly considered the totality of the circumstances, not merely whether Mr. Rogers's driving violated RCW 46.61.100(1) or .140(1). Specifically, the unpublished decision considered that:

[O]thers had reported Rogers "having problems [maintaining] lane travel," and Trooper Sanders's corroborating observations of Rogers having problems maintaining a direct line of travel, driving on the centerline twice, and drifting and jerking from right to left.

Slip op. at 9 (quoting CP at 38) (second alteration in original). The totality of the circumstances—Trooper Sanders first being advised that a concerned motorist had reported "Rogers 'having problems [maintaining] lane travel," followed by Trooper Sanders making corroborating observations regarding Mr. Rogers's driving—established that "the traffic stop was based on a reasonable articulable suspicion that Rogers had committed a traffic

infraction." Slip op. at 9 (quoting CP at 38).

Second, the unpublished decision does not—indeed, cannot—"expand[] the scope of motorist liability beyond that authorized by the Legislature," as the Estate erroneously contends. Pet. at 6, 8. "Unpublished opinions of the Court of Appeals have no precedential value and are not binding on any court." GR 14.1(a). Furthermore, the unpublished decision does not address the scope of RCW 46.61.100(1) or .140(1). Thus, even if cited solely for its persuasive value, the decision would not impact the scope of motorist liability as defined by the Legislature.

Third, the unpublished decision is fully consistent with *Prado*, 145 Wn. App. 646, and *Jones*, 186 Wn. App. 786. The Estate's attempts to manufacture the appearance of conflict are misguided. The Estate accurately, *but incompletely*, portrays *Prado* and *Jones* as finding no violation of RCW 46.61.140(1) and concluding that the traffic stops in question were unlawful. Pet. at 4-6. But this portrayal studiously ignores that *Prado* and *Jones*, like the unpublished decision, actually "used a totality of the circumstances analysis" to evaluate the lawfulness of those traffic stops. *Jones*, 186 Wn. App. at 791-92 (following *Prado* court's use of totality of circumstances analysis). Considering their analyses in full,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> This reasoning likewise counters the relevance of the Estate's claim that "[o]n this record, the trier of fact could conclude that the trooper did not observe a traffic violation." Pet. at 3.

Prado, Jones, and the unpublished decision are entirely consistent.8

The *Prado* court held that "[a] vehicle crossing over a lane [line] once for one second by two tire widths does not, *without more*, constitute a traffic violation justifying a stop by a police officer." *Prado*, 145 Wn. App. at 647 (emphasis added). Where there was "nothing other than this brief incursion over the lane line," and "the officer testified that there was no other traffic present and no danger posed to other vehicles[,]" the *Prado* court affirmed that "the totality of the circumstances here do not create a traffic violation under the statute [RCW 46.61.140(1)]." *Prado*, 145 Wn. App. at 649. Accordingly the investigatory traffic stop was unlawful. *Id*.

The *Jones* court reached the same result on very similar facts, holding, based on *Prado*, that the officer observing Jones's vehicle crossing the fog line three times, *without more*, did not provide reasonable suspicion to make an investigatory stop. *Jones*, 186 Wn. App. at 791-93. The *Jones* court explained the officer did not testify she suspected Jones was impaired or that she stopped him for that reason; the State presented no evidence about the officer's training and experience in identifying impaired drivers; and there was no evidence of dangerous driving or any other traffic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Notably, the traffic stop challenges in *Prado* and *Jones* serve a very different purpose than that of the Estate in this matter. In *Prado* and *Jones*, criminal defendants used the Fourth Amendment as a shield in motions to suppress evidence in criminal proceedings. *Prado*, 145 Wn. App. at 647; *Jones*, 186 Wn. App. at 788-89. By contrast, here the Estate is using the Fourth Amendment as a sword in its § 1983 and tort claims.

infraction. *Id.* at 793. Accordingly "the State failed to justify its warrantless seizure." *Id.* at 794.

By contrast, the record here established that Trooper Sanders was a commissioned law enforcement officer trained in detecting impaired drivers. CP at 38, 9. The record established that Trooper Sanders had evidence beyond just his own observations of Mr. Rogers "having problems maintaining a direct line of travel, driving on the centerline twice, and drifting and jerking from right to left." Slip op. at 9. Specifically, Trooper Sanders had been notified by the WSP dispatcher that a concerned motorist had reported a vehicle matching the description of Mr. Rogers's truck was having trouble maintaining lane travel on the highway. Thus, prior to Trooper Sanders locating Mr. Rogers's truck, another motorist was concerned enough to report Mr. Rogers's driving to the WSP. Thus, the facts of this case are readily distinguishable from those in *Prado* and *Jones*, where the evidence was nothing more than a few brief incursions over the lane line and the court deemed the traffic stops unlawful. Prado, 145 Wn. App. at 649; *Jones*, 186 Wn. App. at 791-93.

The unpublished decision properly held that on the totality of the circumstances, Trooper Sanders had a reasonable articulable suspicion that Mr. Rogers had committed a traffic infraction. That determination does not warrant review. Discretionary review should be denied.

# C. Review Should Be Denied Because the Trooper Had Probable Cause to Believe That Mr. Rogers Had Committed a Crime

The Court of Appeals also held that the Estate's § 1983 challenge to Mr. Rogers's arrest fails on the merits as a matter of law because "the arrest was based on probable cause that Rogers had committed a crime." Slip op. at 9. The Estate contends discretionary review is warranted, arguing there are genuine issues of material fact regarding probable cause for Mr. Rogers's arrest. Pet. at 8-10. Mere error correction does not justify discretionary review. RAP 13.4(b). But even if it did, the Estate fails to demonstrate an issue of fact sufficient to survive summary judgment, for at least three reasons. Discretionary review should be denied.

First, the unpublished decision found there was probable cause to arrest Mr. Rogers, based on the evidence provided by Trooper Sanders's contemporaneous arrest report, confirmed by his sworn declaration in this case, that he observed:

[E]rratic driving before the stop; "a mild odor of alcohol emitting from [Rogers's] vehicle"; "the odor of alcohol and marijuana emitting from Rogers'[s] person"; Rogers had [b]lood shot, droopy, dilated and watery eyes"; Rogers "had slurred speech, and unnecessarily repeated him self [sic]"; Rogers "attempted to hide marijuana and drug paraphernalia from [Trooper Sanders]"; Rogers "failed the field sobriety tests"; and Rogers stated that he had a drink earlier in that night.

Slip op. at 9 (citing CP at 39, 95). The Estate contends that the "Estate's

evidence conflicts with the trooper's claim of probable cause to arrest." Pet. at 8. But nowhere does the Estate's petition identify this "Estate's evidence" that allegedly conflicts with Trooper Sanders's "claim." In fact, the Estate's argument on the issue of probable cause is devoid of record cites. See Pet. at 8-11.

Second, the Estate contends that a "jury is entitled to disregard [Trooper Sanders's] claims" and argues that if it would do so, it "could find that Mr. Rogers was arrested without probable cause." Pet. at 9-10. To reach that result, the Estate would have the jury completely reject Trooper Sanders's arrest report and sworn testimony and, instead, "infer" that Trooper Sanders did not smell alcohol or marijuana on Mr. Rogers's truck or person. Pet. at 9.

In addition, the Estate would have the jury reject Trooper Sanders's testimony that Mr. Rogers failed the field sobriety tests, and infer that "Mr. Rogers'[s] statement that he passed the field [sobriety] tests deserves credence." Pet. at 9. Notably, there is no such statement by Mr. Rogers in the record. But the summary judgment standard entitles the Estate to facts

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The Estate does not cite to Mr. Rogers's testimony in the DOL transcript that it contends should be admitted under the "former testimony" exception to the bar on hearsay. Pet. at 8-11. As explained above, the DOL transcript is inadmissible hearsay. See supra, Section IV.A; see also slip op. at 6-8. However, even if the DOL transcript were admitted, "nothing within the testimony created an issue of material fact that would allow this case to survive summary judgment." Slip op. at 8.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> The Estate does not identify the source of this alleged statement by Mr. Rogers. Pet. at 9. At best, in the contested DOL transcript, Mr. Rogers made the equivocal

and reasonable inferences taken in its favor—it does not require the wholesale rejection of the moving parties' evidence.

Third, the Estate ignores that in the underlying criminal proceeding, Mr. Rogers admitted that there was probable cause for his arrest and waived his right to challenge the evidence against him in return for entering a pretrial diversion program. CP at 88-93. "The pretrial diversion agreement and order 'ORDERED that probable cause exists to believe that the Defendant [Mr. Rogers] committed the offense(s) charged herein,' and that Rogers entered into the Pretrial Diversion Agreement and Order 'freely, voluntarily and knowingly."" Slip op. at 3 (quoting CP at 93).

As the unpublished decision noted, the pretrial diversion agreement and order "has not been reversed or otherwise invalidated. Rogers completed his diversion conditions and the charges were dismissed." Slip op. at 4. Mr. Rogers accepted the benefits of the agreement, and the Estate should not now be allowed to dispute it. Indeed, as Trooper Sanders and the WSP argued below, the Estate is collaterally estopped from challenging probable cause in this case because it was definitively

statement: "I would have thought I had passed [the field sobriety tests]." CP at 201. As argued above, the DOL transcript is inadmissible hearsay. See Section IV.A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Mr. Rogers was charged with "(1) driving under the influence, (2) possession of marijuana, and (3) possession of drug paraphernalia." Slip op. at 3-4.

established in the criminal adjudication proceeding.<sup>12</sup> State Respondents' Br. at 9-14.

Discretionary review of this issue is not warranted.

#### V. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals' unpublished decision correctly held that the DOL transcript "does not satisfy the exception to hearsay under ER 804(b)(1) because Rogers was not subject to cross-examination by a party with similar motives to develop his testimony." Slip op. at 7. The decision also correctly held that "[o]n the facts of this case, Trooper Sanders's warrantless stop and arrest of Rogers were constitutionally justified as a matter of law." Slip op. at 10.

The Estate has failed to establish any basis on which discretionary review of the Court of Appeals' unpublished decision is warranted. Therefore, for the reasons discussed above, the Court should deny Petitioners-Appellants' Petition for Review.